#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellants,	) )
V.	) CASE NO. 75,074
MICHAEL MCK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL., Appellees.	)

ON APPEAL OF ORDER NO. 22093 IN FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 881499-EI: PETITION OF TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS, CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

> Jack Shreve Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 0073622

John Roger Howe Assistant Public Counsel Fla. Bar No. 253911

Office of Public Counsel C/O The Florida Legislature 111 W. Madison Street Room 812 Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1400

904/488-9330

Attorneys for the Citizens of the State of Florida

##

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 17, 1988, Tampa Electric Company (TECO) petitioned the Florida Public Service Commission (PSC) for approval of a "supplemental service rider" tariff. [A-10] The service rider entitled large industrial customers taking service pursuant to interruptible rate schedules to receive reduced charges for electric usage above historic levels. The PSC voted to deny the petition at its December 20, 1988, agenda conference, but announced that a similar tariff providing for a sharing of fuel savings attributable to increased sales would be approved. [A-18]

At the agenda conference, the PSC gave its technical staff authority to approve any tariff TECO might file later that conformed with its decision, i.e., staff was authorized to "administratively approve" a tariff incorporating a provision that 80% of any fuel savings go to the interruptible customer receiving service under the rider with the other 20% going to the general body of ratepayers. The Office of Public Counsel did not make an appearance at the agenda conference, which was not noticed or held as a hearing pursuant to Section 120.57, Florida Statutes (1987).

When TECO filed a new tariff, the PSC staff approved it without review by the Commissioners. (A-19) The date on which TECO submitted the tariff is unknown, but it must have been shortly after the December 20, 1988, agenda conference because it was

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Portions of the record in the appendix to this brief are cited with reference to the appendix page numbers, e.g.  $[A-\_]$ . Other parts of the record are cited as  $[R-\_]$ .

approved for implementation on January 1, 1989, for one year.

TECO implemented its tariff pursuant to the staff's approval. Credits given interruptible customers were treated as a reduction to TECO's fuel revenues in the fuel cost recovery docket. The tariff did not provide for this, but TECO had stated in its petition that the credits would be used "to downwardly adjust fuel revenues reported in the fuel adjustment filing." [A-121 This increased fuel cost recovery charges to all customers to reimburse the utility for credits granted under the service rider.

The PSC's decision to deny TECO's petition was recorded in Order No. 20581, which issued January 10, 1989, after TECO had implemented the new tariff pursuant to staff's approval. [A-1] The order does not mention that the PSC staff had been given authority to approve a subsequent tariff or that one had already been submitted and approved.

The Public Counsel provides legal representation for the people of the State in proceedings before the PSC pursuant to Section 350.0611, Florida Statutes (1987). The Public Counsel is authorized to appear, in the name of the State or its Citizens, in any proceeding or action before the PSC and urge therein any position he deems to be in the public interest. § 350.0611(1), Fla. Stat. (1987). Generally, the Public Counsel appears on behalf of a utility's residential customers.

On May 5, 1989, the Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, filed a PROTEST AND REQUEST FOR HEARING ON TAMPA ELECTRIC COMPANY'S SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE RIDER TARIFF FOR INTERRUPTIBLE CUSTOMERS in which they alleged, among other things, that the tariff did not conform to Order No. 20581 and had not been approved as final agency action pursuant to the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1987). [A-21] The Protest and Request for Hearing stated explicitly that it was not a complaint against a valid tariff. [A-29]

The PSC, on October 25, 1989, issued its Order No. 22093. [A-5] The Protest and Request for Hearing would be treated as a complaint challenging only the prospective application of the tariff. On November 22, 1989, the Citizens of the State of Florida, through the Office of Public Counsel, filed their Notice of Administrative Appeal of Order No. 22093. [R-39]

On November 16, 1989, TECO petitioned for a one-year extension of its service rider tariff. (A-32) On December 19, 1989, TECO filed a supplement to its petition. (A-47) The PSC considered the extension at its January 2, 1990, agenda conference. It was not approved as filed. TECO, upon the representation of its attorney, agreed to file a tariff satisfying the Commission's concerns. The PSC then voted to approve a tariff so modified. (A-49) An attorney from the Office of Public Counsel appeared at the agenda conference and reiterated the concerns which form the basis of this appeal. These were rejected. The PSC's decision is recorded in Order No. 22467, which issued on January 24, 1990. (A-50)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The tariff-approval procedures utilized in this case cannot be reconciled with statutes the PSC administers or with the Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1987). The APA applies to agency decisions determining the substantial interests of a party. § 120.57, Fla. Stat. (1987). An agency must provide a clear point of entry for substantially affected persons to participate in the decision-making process. The exemption from the APA afforded the PSC is applicable only to interim rates instituted pursuant to Section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes (1987). § 120.72(3), Fla. Stat. (1987).

Approval of TECO's service rider tariff was a decision determining the substantial interests of an electric utility subject to the jurisdiction of the PSC. TECO's firm customers, who were required to pay higher fuel cost recovery charges to reimburse TECO for credits given interruptible customers, were adversely affected by agency action. The PSC did not provide a clear point of entry for them to participate in the tariff-approval process.

Order No. 20581, which denied TECO's first service rider, issued as a final order. It did not provide an opportunity to contest the denial of TECO's first service rider or the approval of the tariff now in effect. The PSC staff's approval of the second tariff amounted to an agency decision adversely affecting TECO's customers without notice or an opportunity to be heard.

TECO's service rider was not approved on an interim basis, nor

did the tariff go into effect automatically under the file-and-suspend provisions of Section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes (1987). As such, the Section 120.72(3) exemption from the APA is not applicable to the facts of this case.

Section 366.06, Florida Statutes (1987), outlines the procedures for fixing and changing electric utility rates. Subsection 366.06(1) provides that the PSC, not the utility, shall "determine and fix fair, just, and reasonable rates that may be requested, demanded, charged, or collected by any public utility for its service." Subsection 366.06(2) provides that "the commission shall order and hold a public hearing" before setting rates "to be thereafter charged."

Therefore, pursuant to the APA and Chapter 366, the PSC can not approve or acquiesce in a change of electric utility rates without offering notice and an opportunity for hearing. PSC approval of TECO's service rider tariff is ineffective until the PSC conducts appropriate proceedings pursuant to the law.

The PSC cannot delegate its statutory obligation to consider and approve electric utility tariffs to its staff under the circumstances of this case. The service rider tariff approved by staff was not consistent with the PSC's decision at its December 20, 1988, agenda conference or with Order No. 20581.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I.

PUBLIC COUNSEL'S MAY 5, 1989, PROTEST AND REQUEST FOR HEARING COULD NOT HAVE BEEN TOO LATE IN TERMS OF THE FILE-AND-SUSPEND LAW, SECTION 366.06(3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), BECAUSE TECO'S RATES WERE NOT IMPLEMENTED PURSUANT TO THAT LAW.

This is not a case of PSC inaction which allowed a tariff to go into effect automatically upon expiration of the 60-day suspension period. § 366.06(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). To the contrary, the PSC first acted to deny TECO's initial service rider tariff and then acted through its staff to approve a tariff purportedly modified to meet PSC standards. As the PSC states in its Order No. 22093, at 2: "The tariff was administratively approved by Staff." (A-6) In spite of this, the basis for treating the Protest and Request for Hearing as a complaint challenging only the prospective application of the tariff is that it is too late to challenge a tariff that went into effect automatically because of Commission inaction.

Order No. 22093, at 2, characterizes Public Counsel's APA argument as "the same argument rejected by the Supreme Court of Florida in Florida Interconnect Telephone Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 342 So.2d 811 (Fla. 1977)." [A-6] Florida Interconnect, however, has nothing to do with the circumstances of this case, even under the PSC's interpretation of that opinion.

Florida Interconnect was an appeal of a PSC decision approving a tariff filed by Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph Company on May 24, 1975. Thirty-two days later, on June 25, 1975,

Interconnect filed a complaint and request for hearing. On July 7, 1975, the PSC voted at agenda conference, without notice to Interconnect, to approve the tariff effective July 10, 1975. Interconnect then filed a petition for writ of certiorari and motion to stay the order reflecting the PSC's action in this Court.

The Court denied the petition on the "specific finding that the Commission's Order No. T-75-74, which we review today, does not constitute final agency action within the contemplation of the [Administrative Procedure] Act." 342 So.2d at 813. Actions of the Director of the PSC's rate department and its Chief Hearing Examiner indicated a hearing was to be held on Interconnect's complaint. The Commission's order was, therefore, an interim rate decision not subject to review pursuant to Citizens of Florida v. Mayo, 316 So.2d 262 (Fla. 1975). 342 So.2d at 813. Denial of the petition for writ of certiorari was made "without prejudice to petitioner's right to seek relief in this Court of a duly-entered final order." 342 So.2d at 815.

The Court said "[a]nother reason" for denial was because the PSC's order "was in a very real sense surplusage" since the tariff was automatically effective upon expiration of the statutory 30-day (now 60-day) suspension period. 342 So.2d at 813. Interconnect's complaint was submitted and the Commission's vote taken more than 30 days after the tariff was filed, so neither

event affected the tariff's implementation on an interim basis.<sup>2</sup>

The PSC's interpretation of <u>Florida Interconnect</u> is tied to the Court's statements that a utility's ability to implement new rates, if the Commission <u>failed</u> to act within the suspension period, survived adoption of the APA in 1974:

According to the Supreme Court, if we do not suspend the proposed tariff changes within thirty days [now 60 days] the rates automatically go into effect. The Court further stated that the file-and-suspend procedure 'survives the adoption of the new Administrative Procedure Act.' 342 So.2d at 814. Order No. 22093 at 3. [A-7]

While the statement is accurate, the interpretation of it is not. The file-and-suspend procedure survived adoption of the APA pursuant to Section 120.72(3), Florida Statutes (1987). But file-and-suspend is not a vehicle for implementing permanent rates without a hearing. Only interim rates, effective pending a final order after proceedings conducted according to the APA, are exempt.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The PSC obviously interprets this case as standing for the proposition that it need not hold any hearing at all if it fails to act and the utility implements rates at the end of the suspension period. Public Counsel disagrees with such an interpretation. But even if that view were accepted, it would still be inapplicable to this appeal because TECO did not institute rates pursuant to the file-and-suspend provisions of Section 366.06(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Section 120.72(3) reads as follows: "Notwithstanding any provision of this chapter, all public utilities and companies regulated by the Public Service Commission shall be entitled to proceed under the <u>interim rate</u> provisions of chapter 364 or the <u>procedures for interim rates</u> contained in chapter 74-195, Laws of Florida [codified as Section 366.06(4), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1974), and now found as Section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes (1987)], or as otherwise provided by law." [Emphasis added]. See discussion, <u>infra</u>, pages 19-25.

In any event, TECO's service rider did not go into effect automatically after 60 days. The tariff was filed sometime shortly after the December 20, 1988, agenda conference and approved by the PSC's staff in time to be effective on January 1, 1989. This case, therefore, has nothing whatever to do with the file-and-suspend law and the limited exemption from the APA afforded interim rate procedures by Section 120.72(3).

The PSC's interpretations of cases cited as being consistent with Florida Interconnect have no more bearing on this case than that opinion does. The fact that <u>Citizens v. Mayo</u>, 333 So.2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1976), says "the Commission can obviate any hearing requirement simply by failing to act for 30 days" is irrelevant. Order No. 22093, at 3. [A-7] That case cannot be read to hold that the Commission can obviate a hearing requirement by taking final action before the suspension period **runs.** By the same token, Florida Gas Company v. Hawkins, 372 So.2d 1118, 1119 (Fla. 1979), cited by the PSC for the proposition that Commission <u>inaction</u> "'permit[s] the new rates to become effective after expiration of the statutory 30-day period,'" is meaningless. Order No. 22093, at 3. [A-7] This case is only concerned with Commission action.

<sup>\*</sup>The PSC's citation is taken out of context. In <u>Citizens V. Mayo</u>, 333 So.2d at 4, the Court said rates that were not suspended went into effect, but only as "interim charges" pending the outcome of "the full rate proceeding." The citation in Order No. 22093 is irrelevant regardless of the interpretation, though, because TECO's service rider was not allowed to go into effect automatically.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The citation to <u>Florida Gas</u> is also out of context. See note **4**, <u>supra</u>. The passage quoted in Order No. 22093, at 3, [A-7] follows the Court's quotation from <u>Citizens v. Mayo</u>, 333 So.2d at **4**, that rates not suspended are "interim charges" pending "the full

Similarly, <u>Maule Industries v. Mayo</u>, 342 So.2d 63 (Fla. 1977), is inapplicable because this is not a case of the Commission withholding suspension because it believes the rates as filed were reasonable.<sup>6</sup> Order No. 22093, at 3. [A-7] To the contrary, the PSC believed the rates were unreasonable and issued an order to that effect. The second service rider was approved by the PSC's staff because it purportedly agreed with the Commission's directives in that order.

The citation to <u>Florida Power Corporation v. Hawkins</u>, 367 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 1979), is confusing because it is not evident how the PSC interprets that case. The quoted passage from that opinion states:

'The statute expressly empowers the Commission to withhold consent to rate schedules within thirty days of filing, or consent to rate relief any time after filing.' 367 So.2d at 1013. Order No. 22093, at 3. [A-7]

The PSC did not withhold consent to TECO's tariff pending the

rate proceeding." Florida Gas states throughout that due process rights attend all PSC determinations of electric utility rate changes: "[I]n Citizens of the State of Florida v. Mayo, supra, [333 So.2d 13 the Court reaffirmed the public policy of this state favoring traditional due process rights in utility rate hearings.

• • There can be no compromise on the footing of convenience or expedience, or because of a natural desire to avoid delay, when the minimal requirement of a fair hearing has been neglected or ignored. [Citation omitted]." 372 So.2d at 1121.

Gorder No. 22093, at 3, quotes language from Maule Industries, 342 So.2d at 67 n.7, that the PSC should withhold suspension and allow rates to go into effect if it has no reason to suspend them. Nothing in that opinion, however, suggests that the PSC need not hold hearings to resolve whether rates should remain in effect on a permanent basis. See footnotes 4 and 5, supra. Moreover, the facts of the case did not involve a failure to suspend rates. The PSC was reversed for failure to base its interim rates, granted after the filed rates were suspended, on adequate evidence.

outcome of hearings pursuant to Section 366.06(3); it denied the original tariff outright without offering any opportunity for hearing. Certainly, the PSC may consent to rate relief any time after filing, but consent requires a decision determining a utility's substantial interests. That triggers the notice and hearing requirements of Section 120.57.

The Commission concludes its citation of cases that purportedly support the Court's holding in <u>Florida Interconnect</u> with a statement that Public Counsel's protest was even later than the one in that appeal:

In the instant docket, Public Counsel's protest and request for hearing comes not one day late, as in <a href="Interconnect">Interconnect</a>, but months after the tariff went into effect. Nonetheless, consistent with our action in <a href="Interconnect">Interconnect</a>, it remains our policy to afford hearings on complaints which protest the prospective application of tariffs in cases such as this. Therefore, we will treat Public Counsel's Protest and Request for Hearing as a complaint attacking the prospective application of the tariff and will afford a hearing on it.

There is, however, no relation between the timing of the protests and requests for hearing in the two cases.

The issue in <u>Florida Power v. Hawkins</u> was whether the PSC could revoke an interim rate increase without notice or hearing. 367 So.2d at 1013. The Court said it could not: "The general statutory scheme for making and adjusting rates embraces the traditional requirements of procedural due process, <u>i.e.</u>, notice and a hearing. Sections 366.06(3); 366.07, Florida Statutes (1975). Within this framework is the so-called 'File and Suspend Law,' Section 366.06(4), Florida Statutes (1975) [now Section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes (1987)]. . . It is clear the statute was designed to provide accelerated rate relief without sacrificing the protection inherent in the overall regulatory scheme." 367 So.2d at 1013.

Interconnect was "late" only in the sense that it did not file its protest before Southern Bell's tariff went into effect when the PSC failed to act within the file-and-suspend period. Hearings were still held to see if the rate change should remain in effect on a permanent basis. The Court's opinion noted that the tariff was only "'approved' pending disposition of the complaint" and otherwise characterized the approval resulting from the PSC's inaction as being "tentative," "intermediate," and "interim." 342 So.2d at 813-14. Interconnect may have been too late to stop the tariff from going into effect automatically pending a final decision by the PSC, but it was not too late to challenge the tariff itself. Nor was Interconnect limited to the prospective application of the tariff.

Public Counsel's Protest and Request for Hearing on the service rider could not have been too late in terms of the 60-day suspension period because TECO never implemented rates pursuant to the file-and-suspend statute. TECO filed its second tariff sometime shortly after the December 20, 1988 agenda conference and staff approved it in time to be effective on January 1, 1989.

<sup>\*&</sup>quot;The letter [from the Director of the PSC's Rate Department] noted that Southern Bell's tariff had been 'approved' pending disposition of the complaint. . . Rather than cooperate with this effort to expedite its complaint, petitioner chose to seek review of the Commission's tentative approval in court." 342 So.2d at 813.
"[T]he Commission was without authority to suspend [Southern Bell's] new rate tariffs had it chosen to do so, and consequently Interconnect is in no position to complain about the new schedule's having gone into effect on at least an interim basis. . . . [T]he action taken at the hearing [sic: agenda conference] (i.e. intermediate consideration of the new rates) would have occurred had the hearing not been held." 342 So.2d at 814. [Emphasis added.]

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