IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CITIZENS OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,074

PSC DOCKET NO. 881499-EI

MICHAEL McK. WILSON, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

**ANSWER BRIEF OF
APPELLEE, THE FLORIDA INDUSTRIAL POWER USERS GROUP**

John W. McWhirter, Jr.
Fla. Bar No. 53905
Vicki Gordon Kaufman
Fla. Bar No. 286672
Lawson, McWhirter, Grandoff
and Reeves
522 E. Park Avenue, Suite 200
Tallahassee, Florida 32301
9041222-2525

Attorneys for the Florida
Industrial Power Users Group

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

OPC's legal argument is procedural in nature. It is aimed at fuel cost recovery. The brief would receive the applause of medieval theologians and Talmudic scholars for its arcane complexity. In simple terms, OPC says that firm customers were not given an opportunity to complain about the fact that they would only receive 20% of the fuel cost savings brought about by new sales in 1989. In addition, theoretically, if TECO was mistaken and the price of spot coal turned out to be higher than the contract price of coal rather than lower as anticipated, the firm customer might be disadvantaged.

The problem with the OPC argument is that it focuses on the way base rate charges are changed rather than fuel cost charges. The only change in base rate charges made by SSR was to create a new customer charge of \$200.00 for the customers who voluntarily opted for the new tariff. This is new revenue to TECO and does not change the prices charged to any other customers. The OPC argument addresses possible changes in fuel cost. OPC has a clear point of entry to challenge the allocation of these costs at least twice a year in fuel proceedings and more frequently, if necessary, for mid-course corrections. Any past mistakes can be corrected at these hearings by requiring TECO to refund any inappropriate past overcharges plus interest.

OPC alleges that the interests he represents have been harmed because of the procedure the Commission used in approving TECO's tariff. However, the Commission's tariff

approval procedures are necessary *to* balance the interests of consumers while still permitting legitimate tariffs to take effect without regulatory lag. An examination of the remedies available to QPC demonstrates that QPC had several avenues available to challenge the tariff about which he complains.

Contrary *to* OPC's position, no harm has occurred *to* the interests he represents. A legitimate tariff has expeditiously gone into effect while at the same time concerned persons have been provided with several proceedings in which to raise, address, and remedy any alleged problems with the underlying basis of the tariff and its monetary operation and effect.

ARGUMENT

THE PROCESS FOLLOWED BY THE COMMISSION IN APPROVING TECO'S SUPPLEMENTAL SERVICE RIDER TARIFF PROTECTED THE RIGHTS OF ALL CUSTOMERS.

The thrust of OPC's argument is that firm customers have been harmed because the Commission did not hold a hearing on TECO's supplemental service rider tariff prior to the tariff becoming effective. OPC attempts to bolster his position with convoluted and confusing arguments related to the file-and-suspend statute, section 366.06(3), Florida Statutes (1987), and its interaction and relationship to the Administrative Procedures Act, Chapter 120, Florida Statutes (1987).

However, OPC's interests have not been harmed by the process followed by the Commission in approving TECO's tariff. Rather the process followed by the Commission in this case balanced the interests of all affected persons - consumers and the utility - by allowing the tariff to be implemented expeditiously while still providing OPC with several points of entry to address TECO's tariff.

In this instance, as in the case of many of the other tariff filings which the Commission continually receives, the supplemental service rider tariff became effective without prior hearing.^{4/} The Commission's procedure for approving

^{4/} This is not to say that the tariff became effective simply as a result of TECO's filing with no Commission review. The Commission reviewed the tariff and determined that it was just and reasonable pursuant to its statutory duty under section 366.06(1), Florida Statutes (1987).

tariffs, or allowing them to become effective if not suspended, is necessary in order to prevent what numerous Florida Supreme Court opinions have characterized as "regulatory lag." See, i.e., Florida Power Corporation v. Hawkins, 367 So.2d 1011, 1013 (Fla. 1979); Citizens of Florida v. Mayo, 333 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1976).

If every tariff filing had to be noticed prior to implementation and fourteen (14) days^{5/} provided for a protest, as suggested by OPC, the time between filing and implementation, even assuming no protest, would add at least thirty to forty-five days to every tariff filing. These wasted days before tariff effectiveness would occur just because of the lag in receipt of the tariff and publication of notice. Thus, the procedure OPC suggests would prevent the operation of a legitimate tariff to which no one objects for a significant period of time. Such a process could prevent rate reductions, which are effectuated through tariff filings, from taking effect until at least the end of the protest period. Surely, this would not be in the interest of the persons OPC represents.

The "regulatory lag" which would attend a protest and request for hearing would, of course, be even greater. It is

^{5/} When the Commission issues a notice of proposed agency action, its rules require that it give parties fourteen (14) days from service of the notice to request a hearing. Rule 25-22.029, Florida Administrative Code. As a matter of practice, the Commission generally allows twenty-one (21) days.

uncontroverted that requests for hearing, with attendant discovery, hearing time, post-hearing filings, and final order preparation time frequently take many months. This is especially true given the Commission's heavy hearing schedule. Thus, the implementation of a legitimate tariff could be unduly delayed under the process OPC suggests.

The majority of tariff offerings do not affect rates at all.^{6/} Tariffs often change service offerings or conditions of service. OPC's argument, carried to its logical extreme, would unnecessarily delay new service offerings or conditions of service beneficial to consumers. It would delay such offerings even though, in the majority of instances, no hearing would be requested.

It is also important to recognize that many tariff changes, whether such changes are related to rates or to service offerings, arise because of the quickly changing circumstances attendant to the utility industry. Changes in the prices of oil or gas may occur rapidly necessitating tariff changes which must be dealt with expeditiously. The delay attendant to prior notice and hearing may well render

^{6/} Rule 25-25.9002(8), Florida Administrative Code, defines "tariff" as the:

assembled volume containing the "rules," "regulations," "rate schedules," "standard forms," "contracts," and other material required by these regulations as filed with the Commission.

tariffs useless by the time they are "approved" under the procedure OPC advocates.

The above discussion does not mean that affected parties have no opportunity to object to a tariff filing. It simply means that this right must be balanced against the important regulatory objective of implementing tariffs without unjustified delay.

This balance is struck in section 366.07, Florida Statutes (1987). This section provides:

Rates; adjustment. - Whenever the commission, after public hearing either upon its own motion or upon complaint, shall find the rates, rentals, charges or classifications, or any of them, proposed, demanded, observed, charged or collected by any public utility for any service, or in connection therewith, or the rules, regulations, measurements, practices or contracts, or any of them, relating thereto, are unjust, unreasonable, insufficient, or unjustly discriminatory or preferential, or in anywise in violation of law, or any service is inadequate or cannot be obtained, the commission shall determine and by order fix the fair and reasonable rates, rentals, charges or classifications, and reasonable rules, regulations, measurements, practices, contracts or service, to be imposed, observed, furnished or followed in the future.

Emphasis supplied.

Section 366.07 is extremely broad and allows OPC, or anyone else, to challenge any utility tariff at any time for any legitimate reason. This section does not limit the challenge to a specified period prior to the tariff's effective date, such as a fourteen or twenty-one day notice period.

In fact, a complaint proceeding was the very way in which the Commission treated OPC's Protest and Request for Hearing:

[W]e will treat Public Counsel's Protest and Request for Hearing as a complaint attacking the prospective application of the tariff and will afford a hearing on it. TECO is thus directed to respond to Public Counsel's complaint within twenty days from the date of this Order.

Order No. 22093 at 3; (OPC A-7). Had OPC availed himself of the opportunity for a hearing on his protest, he would have had an evidentiary hearing in regard to his concerns over TECO's tariff. Public Counsel chose to disregard this remedy and seek review in this Court.

OPC suggests that firm customers have been monetarily harmed by the tariff's implementation. However, this harm does not manifest itself through the operation of the tariff. Any alleged harm occurs in the way TECO recovers the credits from ratepayers.

OPC alleges that such "harm" occurs to firm customers due to "increased fuel cost recovery charges to all customers to reimburse the utility for credits granted under the service rider." OPC Initial Brief at 2. See also, OPC Initial brief at 15. Credits flowing from the tariff are deducted from fuel revenues when TECO's fuel cost recovery factor is calculated. Therefore, OPC argues that customers pay increased fuel cost recovery charges. OPC claims that this recovery of the credits through the fuel adjustment mechanism is not provided for in the tariff.

However, the mechanics of how the SSR tariff operates and of how credits are treated for cost recovery purposes are issues which are appropriately raised in the Commission's ongoing fuel cost recovery docket. The Commission holds semiannual fuel cost recovery hearings in which the utilities estimate future fuel charges and "true up" projected fuel charges from prior periods based on actual experience.⁷¹ During these hearings, the Commission considers fuel adjustment factors and any party may raise and have a hearing on any issues related to fuel cost recovery. See, i.e., Order No. 22058, Docket No. 890001-El. (A-1-10). OPC routinely participates in the fuel cost recovery hearings.

The fuel cost recovery proceeding and resulting order implement any monetary change resulting from TECO's tariff approval. All adjustments relating to utility fuel revenues and expenses are made in the fuel adjustment docket, in which the fuel adjustment factor is determined. Any credits resulting from the supplemental service rider which TECO deducts from fuel revenues must be reported in TECO's filings in that docket. It is the fuel cost recovery docket and

⁷¹ For example, in the order entered as a result of the August 1989 fuel adjustment hearing, Order No. 22058, (A-1-10), the Commission determined the final fuel adjustment true-up figures for October 1988 through March 1989, determined the estimated fuel adjustment true-up figures for April 1989 through September 1989, and set the proposed fuel adjustment factors for October 1989 through March 1990. As Order No. 22058 notes, these factors are set as part of the Commission's continuing fuel cost recovery proceedings. Order No. 22058 at 1 (A-1). This process was first approved by the Commission in Order No. 9273.

subsequent order which results in lower revenues due to the credits, not the order of tariff approval which OPC appeals here. OPC recognizes this and states: "Credits given interruptible customers were treated as a reduction to TECO's fuel revenues in the fuel cost recovery docket." OPC Initial Brief at 2, emphasis supplied.

The supplemental service rider tariff went into effect on January 1, 1989. (OPC A-19-20). Thus, TECO reported any credits on its monthly fuel filings beginning in January 1989. OPC could have raised the issue of the treatment of the tariff credits at the February 1989 fuel cost recovery hearing and/or at the August 1989 hearing. Had OPC identified the recovery mechanism for the credit as an issue, a hearing would have been provided in the previous fuel adjustment dockets.

Even though OPC failed to raise the issue of TECO's treatment of the credit at two previous fuel adjustment hearings, he did raise it at the February 1990 fuel adjustment hearing. OPC requested that the Commission order TECO to stop reducing fuel revenues by the credits and requested a refund of past credits. Docket No. 900001-EI, Order No. 22581 at 27-28 (A-13-14), OPC framed the issue and his position in the fuel adjustment docket as follows:

7i. ISSUE: Has TECO been authorized to reduce its reported fuel cost recovery revenues to recognize credits given

interruptible customers pursuant to its
supplemental service rider tariff? (OPC).^{8/}

. . .

OPC: TECO has been reducing its reported fuel revenues by credits given interruptibles pursuant to the [supplemental] service [rider]. The tariff was approved by Staff and does not contain any provisions allowing for recovery of the credits from all customers through the fuel cost recovery docket. There are no orders in the fuel docket or elsewhere that permit such treatment. TECO should be ordered to refund credits claimed thus far as reductions to fuel revenues for past periods and ordered to cease the practice for future periods.

Prehearing Order No. 22581 at 27-28. (A-13-14).

The Commission has the authority to review past and future fuel adjustment charges and order a refund of past charges where necessary. Fuel adjustment proceedings, like the Commission's tariff approval process, are designed to prevent regulatory lag. Thus, the Commission retains continuing jurisdiction over the charges collected in the fuel adjustment proceedings.

As this Court has stated:

Fuel adjustment charges are authorized to compensate for utilities' fluctuating fuel expenses. The fuel adjustment proceeding is a continuous proceeding and operates to a utility's benefit by eliminating regulatory lag. This authorization to collect fuel costs close to the time they are incurred should not be used to divest the commission of the jurisdiction and

^{8/} The designation (OPC) means that this is an issue raised by the Office of Public Counsel in this docket.

power to review the prudence of these costs.

Gulf Power Company v. Florida Public Service Commission, 487 So.2d 1036, 1037 (Fla. 1986). In Gulf Power, this Court affirmed a Commission refund of two million dollars based on past managerial imprudence. If the Commission were to find in the fuel cost recovery docket that TECO was improperly passing the supplemental service rider credit through the fuel adjustment clause without authority, thus causing increased fuel recovery charges, the Commission has the ongoing jurisdiction to fashion a remedy.

In fact, the Commission did not agree with OPC's position in the recent fuel adjustment proceeding and voted from the bench on February 22, 1990 that TECO was authorized to reduce its reported fuel revenues to recognize the supplemental service rider credits. However, the Commission's vote is not what is at issue here. What is critical is that OPC was provided with a hearing opportunity.?' If he had prevailed, the harm which he alleged occurred could have been alleviated - OPC has had his point of entry.

Despite OPC's strenuous protestations to the contrary, the interests he purports to serve have not been harmed by the process utilized here. OPC had the opportunity to utilize the

^{9/} It is interesting to note that though OPC could have presented testimony on this issue at the hearing which he has so vociferously requested, he presented no evidence but merely orally argued his position on the supplemental service rider to the Commission.

complaint process and the fuel adjustment process to challenge TECO's tariff. OPC had remedies available before the Commission which could redress any alleged harm to customers who did not have a hearing prior to the supplemental service rider tariff approval. The Commission has successfully balanced and protected the interests of all concerned and its order approving TECO's supplemental service rider tariff should be affirmed.

Finally, IMC and other customers relied in good faith on the SSR tariff which the Commission approved and which was therefore presumptively valid. IMC and others fulfilled their obligations under the terms of the SSR tariff and received credits For doing so. If the Court should find that the Commission committed a procedural impropriety, the customers who relied on the Commission's action should not be prejudiced. If this Court does find procedural error, it should protect these customers from harm by applying any decision prospectively only.

COWCLUSION

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